IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANA WILLIAMSON,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 84,198

TRIAL COURT NO. 92-15642CF10A

v.

1

т

, Ť

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

IN 12 19951

CURRENT ANT COURT Ry Celefordary Diak

ON APPEAL PURSUANT TO RULE 9.030(a)(1) FROM THE JURY VERDICT AND DECISION OF THE TRIAL COURT

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SCOTT A. MAGER, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 768502

and

ROBERT E. HODAPP, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 994601

LAW OFFICES OF SCOTT A. MAGER Attorneys for Appellant Barnett Bank Tower, Suite 1701 One East Broward Boulevard Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 Tele: (305) 761-1100

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

• • • •

This Court should reverse the Trial Court's decision and either a) enter an Order of Acquittal; b) grant a new trial; or c) or vacate the death sentence and remand with instructions to impose a life sentence.

In support of this assertion, the Appellant principally submits² that the law and record illustrate that the Trial Court committed reversible error by:

- admitting evidence during the guilt phase regarding Appellant's prior conviction for manslaughter;
- 2) failing to sever the extortion count;
- admitting evidence regarding the Appellant's execution of divorce papers and a Quit Claim Deed;
- 4) entering guilty verdicts not supported by substantial competent evidence/denial of Appellant's Motion for Judgment of Acquittal

1. Defendant's Motion to Suppress Statements, which relates to statements made by Williamson to investigators. (R-4667-4670), (T:719-727).

2. Defendant's Motion for Mistrial, regarding prosecutorial error. (T:2644-2649, 2782-2786).

² The Appellant's trial counsel also argued several other grounds, which - in an abundance of caution - the appellant offers for this Court's review and consideration. The contents of the arguments are contained in the Motions as they appear in the Record:

(T:2899);

- 5) not properly weighing all the mitigating factors presented regarding Appellant's background and brain dysfunction; and
- 6) denying Appellant's Motion to Declare Florida Statute §921.141 Unconstitutional.

The trial court's admission into evidence of the Appellant's prior manslaughter conviction was error, as its probative value was far outweighed by the prejudicial affect it surely had on the jury. Section 90.403 of the Florida Statutes. It also does not meet the criteria for admission as articulated in Section 90.404.

Even if the evidence was admissible to prove extortion, it should not have been admitted in this case; rather, the law provides that the trial judge should have ordered a severance of the extortion count from this trial.

Additionally, the Trial Judge committed reversible error by denying Appellant's Motion in Limine to exclude evidence relating to Williamson's divorce and his execution of a Quit Claim Deed. The evidence was collateral and unrelated to the crimes charged, and therefore inadmissible. (T. 1458). Its admission was also prejudicial and misleading to the trier of fact. Further, the relevance of this wholly collateral material is not easily discernable.

A review of the transcript and record below displayed that the trial judge should have granted the Appellant's Motion for a Judgment of Acquittal. There was no physical evidence (i.e., fingerprints, blood evidence) that placed Williamson at the crime scene. The State's case hinged on the testimony of Panoyan, which is marked by inconsistencies and contradictions.

· · · · · ·

Even if the conviction was appropriate, the law supports reduction of the death sentence to life, in light of the mitigating factors put forth by four experts, which included that the appellant had brain damage and relevant childhood problems. Consequently, this Court should vacate the death sentence and remand with instructions to impose a life sentence if the conviction for first degree murder is affirmed.

Additionally, the Appellant urges this Court to find Florida Statutes §921.141, which addresses sentencing, as unconstitutionally vague and ambiguous. Thus, the Defendant's death sentence should be vacated.

ARGUMENT

A. THE ADMISSION OF A THIRTEEN YEAR-OLD CONVICTION WAS ERROR

The Defendant asserts that the State's use of a thirteen yearold unrelated conviction for manslaughter was reversible error. (T:3474).

The State offered this evidence in direct examination of Panoyan and a jail house informant. (T:1546, 2147). The defendant's timely objections were overruled.

The following references were made to the Appellant's prior conviction:

Well, Mr. Panoyan knew about his (Williamson's) past. He knew that Williamson had killed before and he would have no problem killing again. He killed a four year old kid with a baseball bat.³ (T:1546-47) (Testimony of Patrick O'Brian).

He is a person that killed a baby. Stomped it to death and beat this other one so bad that it was brain dead. (T:2147) (testimony of Charles Panoyan).

The trial judge opined that this testimony was relevant to Count XVII - Extortion, based upon Panoyan's claim that he was scared into silence by Williamson's alleged threats. (T: 2123-24).

Appellant contends on various grounds that the admission of his prior conviction constitutes error, and denied him the right to

a fair trial. These grounds include:

· • ·

a) the prejudicial impact of the conviction as applied to support the extortion count outweighs its probative value, and

³ In addition to being overly prejudicial, the reference to the baseball bat may even have been erroneous. During the sentencing phase, when the manslaughter was discussed in depth, there was no reference to the baseball bat. (T:3466, 3476, 3487).

b) the use of the thirteen year-old conviction is violative of the "Williams Rule."

, ¹, , , ,

A. The prejudicial value of the thirteen year-old manslaughter conviction outweighs any probative value.

Appellant submits that the State's use of an unrelated conviction for manslaughter was so inflammatory that a fair trial was made impossible. <u>See Fla. Stat.</u> §90.403: <u>Henry v. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 73, 75 (Fla. 1991).

Section 90.403 of the Florida Statutes provides:

Relevant evidence is inadmissible if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of issues, misleading the jury, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

This Court has taken great pains to articulate the need for careful consideration of the obvious prejudicial effect such evidence has on a jury. As this Court in <u>State v. Price</u>, 491 So. 2d 536 (Fla. 1986), stated in disallowing - on the basis of its prejudicial value - otherwise admissible evidence:

Care must be taken, however, not to allow the introduction of unduly prejudicial evidence simply because the evidence is admissible under a different rule.

Id. at 537. See also Jackson v. State, 451 So. 458, 461 (Fla. 1984) ("where evidence has no relevancy except as to the character and propensity of the defendant to commit the crime charged, it must be

· ·

. .

verdict, then the error is by definition harmful"). <u>See also State</u> v. Lee, 531 So. 2d 133, 136 (Fla. 1988) (same).

b. The use of the thirteen year-old conviction is violative of the "Williams Rule."

. . .

The Williams Rule dictates that similar fact evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is admissible when relevant to prove a material fact and issue, such as proof of motive, opportunity intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake. <u>See Williams v. State</u>, 110 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1959) (codified through section 90.404). However, the evidence is inadmissible when it is used to show bad character or propensity. <u>Id. Fla. Stat</u>. §90.404(2). <u>See also Holland v. State</u>, 636 So. 2d 1289, 1293 (Fla. 1994).

The State placed great emphasis on its use of the prior conviction, which bore no relation to the crime charged in the case at bar. The intent, therefore, could not be but to show the bad character or propensity of the Appellant. Thus, the creative use of the collateral evidence of a thirteen year-old conviction constituted harmful error, and this Court should reverse and remand for a new trial. This Court's decision in <u>State v. Lee</u>, 531 So. 2d 133 (Fla. 1988) is instructive in this regard.

In <u>State v. Lee</u>, 531 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1988), the Defendant was charged with kidnaping, sexual battery and robbery while armed with a hand gun. At trial, the State introduced evidence that the Defendant had robbed a bank while armed with a hand gun on the *same day* as the charged offense. This court, in disallowing the use of the evidence, stated:

In the present case, the improper collateral evidence was given undue emphasis by the state and was made a focal point of the trial. [footnote reference omitted] We agree with the district court that the opening and closing arguments of the state attorney lead to the inescapable conclusion that the prosecutor was asking the jury to find Lee quilty, at least in part, because he was an evil man intent on committing the crime. The state has failed to meet the burden under DiGuilio. Because of the emphasis placed on the improper collateral crime evidence, we are unable to say beyond a reasonable doubt that the testimony presented regarding Lee's participation in a bank robbery several hours after committing the offenses under review had no impact on the The district court correctly reversed the verdict. conviction and remanded for a new trial . . .

<u>Id.</u> at 137-38.

•

Notwithstanding the State's contention that the evidence went to the "state of mind" of its star witness, Charles Panoyan, the use of a thirteen year-old conviction was violated the spirit and

intent of the <u>Williams</u> rule. This Court should therefore reverse and remand for a new trial.⁵

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SEVER THE EXTORTION COUNT FROM THE TRIAL.

· · · ·

Even if this Court finds that evidence of Appellant's prior conviction for manslaughter was properly admitted to prove the extortion count, the Appellant alternatively posits that it was reversible error for the trial court to fail to sever the extortion count from the trial.

Upon learning that the State planned to introduce evidence of the prior conviction of Appellant for manslaughter to prove the extortion count, defense counsel indicated that severance should be afforded. (T:1505). This was not done.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.152 (a)(2) provides that where two or more charges of related offenses are joined in a single indictment or information, the court, upon a proper motion before or <u>during</u> trial, shall grant a severance of such charges,

⁵The State provided a notice of the intent to rely upon Williams Rule evidence, but failed to properly specify the purpose for its use of the previous conviction. (R-4573).

It is also significant to note that, while the trial judge commented that there was no Williams Rule present, he actually based his ruling in part on Williams Rule criteria. T:1506.

where it is necessary to achieve a fair determination of the defendant's guilt or innocence of each offense. See also Chapman v. State, 639 So.2d 682 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) (reversed in part for failure to sever charges); Orr v. State, 380 So.2d 1185 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) (even where admission of evidence was not harmless, severance of firearm possession count from grand theft count was required to promote fair determination of defendant's guilt or innocence).

The appellant argued: "If the jury hears about this prior conviction that they otherwise would not hear about because it has no bearing on this case, it's going to have such a prejudicial value that this defendant cannot have a fair trial." (T:1498). The trial judge's response also supports that the extortion count should have been severed:

> You might be right if there was no charge of extortion and if the state didn't have the burden of proving their good grounds. If supposedly the jury wants to believe the statement of the alleged victim was in fear of this defendant for a number of reasons, you're probably right the prejudice outweighs the probative value. It might outweigh the probative value on other counts.

(T:1498).

· • •

The trial judge's offer to give a curative or cautionary instruction to the jury on the purposes for which they could consider this evidence does not change the Defendant's legal right to severance based on the facts of this case. (T:1507, 1508, 1509). <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Wright v. State</u>, 586 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 1991)(trial court's refusal to sever charge of murder from other counts was reversible error); <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1990)(was an abuse of discretion for trial court to deny severance); <u>Thomas</u> <u>v. State</u>, 440 So.2d 581 (Fla. 1983)(failure to sever charge prevented defendant from receiving a fair trial on other charges).

· · · ·

This Court's decision in <u>State v. Vazquez</u>, 419 So.2d 1088 (Fla. 1982), is also supportive. In <u>Vasquez</u>, the defendant was charged with first degree murder and possession of a weapon by a convicted felon. The state introduced evidence of Vasquez's prior conviction for robbery. On appeal, this Court held that severance was necessary to prevent the prior conviction from prejudicing the defendant's right to a fair determination on the murder charge. <u>Id</u>. at 1090.

This Court's decision in <u>Ellis v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 991 (Fla. 1993), is also instructive in this regard. <u>In Ellis</u>, this Court held that even if joinder is proper, a defendant is entitled to have separate trials upon showing that severance is necessary to achieve a fair determination of guilt or innocence of each offense. <u>See also Crossley v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1991) (evidence that

the defendant may also have committed another crime can have the effect of tipping the scale).

The extreme prejudicial impact of the subject evidence whether or not the extortion count was interrelated to the murder count - made severance of the extortion count necessary and appropriate.

Therefore, this Court should reverse the conviction and remand for a new trial.

C. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE RELATING TO APPELLANT'S EXECUTION OF DIVORCE PAPERS AND A QUIT CLAIM DEED.

At trial, Bob Decker testified that he was forced to put his signature on a form of some kind. (T:1062, 1084, 1087). Armed with this information, the State filed notice of its intent to introduce documents executed by the Appellant in the way of a Quit Claim Deed and divorce papers. (T:154). The Appellant filed a Motion in Limine to exclude this prejudicial evidence, but it was denied. This was error.

The form signed by the Deckers was never recovered. The Quit Claim Deed prepared by Williamson was unrelated to the form signed by the Deckers, and therefore not relevant as a material issue.

Divorce papers executed by Williamson also were very prejudicial of no substantive value to the trier of fact. This

evidence was introduced under the guise of showing Williamson's knowledge of legal forms in an effort to prove that Appellant had forced the Deckers to sign the form. (T:154). Apparently, in 1989 or 1990,⁶ Williamson divorced his wife Cassandra without her knowledge, and remained living with her. (T:1458).

· · · ·

Admission of the divorce papers only served to inflame the jury and further collaterally impugn the Appellant's character, and as such, should not have been referenced or admitted. <u>See</u> cases cited above, and <u>Rigdon v. State</u>, 633 So.2d 1128 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) (even if marginally relevant, testimony regarding defendants "discontrol" as a result of alcohol consumption could have been excluded as confusing); <u>Page v. Zordan</u>, 564 So.2d 500 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) (evidence that defendant owned pornographic magazines, was a peeping tom, and suffered from a sexual dysfunction, was overly prejudicial and irrelevant). Notwithstanding the trial judge's decision to admit this evidence - because the Defendant theoretically could show that he was without knowledge of legal forms, (T:157) - reversal and remand is proper. <u>See</u> cases cited on pp. 11-13 of the Initial Brief. <u>See also Pausch v. State</u>, 596 So.2d

⁶ The record does not clearly establish the year of the Williamson's divorce.

1216 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) (officer's comments misleading, confusing, prejudicial, and fundamentally undermined Defendant's trial).

D. THE JURY'S VERDICT IS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL COMPETENT EVIDENCE.

•

The record does not contain substantial competent evidence to support the jury verdict. This Court should therefore reverse.

The record does not reflect that the gun used in the crime was ever found. There is no fingerprint evidence, nor blood evidence, nor any DNA evidence linking the Appellant to the crime. (T:1660, The hat found at the scene was not shown to be the 3035). Appellant's. (T:1482). The utility belt allegedly used in the crime was actually found in Panovan's truck. (T:1424). The record also reveals that the "utility belt" allegedly used did not belong to the Appellant. (T:1464,1467). This circumstantial evidence does not rise to the level of substantial competent evidence. Accord Crump v. State, 622 So.2d 963 (Fla. 1993) (where State's entire case rests upon circumstantial evidence, evidence must be inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis of innocence); Fowler v. State, 492 So. 2d 1344 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) (quoting Mayo v. State, 71 So. 2d 899, 904 (Fla. 1954) ("Evidence which leaves one with nothing stronger than a suspicion that the defendant committed the crime is not sufficient to sustain a conviction").

The "direct" testimony came from the man who was originally the prime and only suspect, Charles Panoyan, and from three convicted felons. Respectfully, the State's case is so replete with inconsistency that it cannot be said without reasonable doubt to rise to the level of substantial competence sufficient to support imposition of the death penalty upon the Appellant.

The apparent inconsistencies include:

•. • • •

- Panoyan claimed to have been hog-tied, but later showed no rope burns or abrasions. (T:2360, 1171).
- Panoyan repeatedly told police that he did not know the gunman. (T:613, 1852)
- 3) Panoyan testified that he was in great fear of Williamson yet Bob Decker witnessed the two of them in court talking and laughing together. (T:648).
- 4) Panoyan claims that he immediately phoned the police from the pay phone minutes away from the crime scene, yet the call was placed long after the 911 call was recorded from Donna Decker (long after Panoyan had left). (T:651, 1183, 1184, 1848).
- 5) The gunman did his best to kill the whole Decker family, but somehow permitted Panoyan to walk out unscathed. (T:648).
- 6) The gunman was aware that the Decker's had an alarm system and he know that they had a safe. (T:1062, 1064, 1167-68).
- 7) Bob Decker witnessed the gunman whispering something to Panoyan. (T:1067).

8) Panoyan worked on Decker's home and was aware of the alarm system. (T:1023).

2. ¹ 4. .

- 9) Bob Decker testified that Panoyan would rarely come to his home, yet he happened to be their the same night and time that this crime took place. (T:1044,1158).
- According to Panoyan, he went to Decker's home to deliver deer meat, but went inside without it, and upon getting it he returned with the gunman. (T:2328).
- 11) The Decker's were taken into the bedroom and tied up, but Panoyan remained in the living room. (T:1167, 1170).
- 12) Decker saw a station wagon as he came home that night. The Defendant did not own such a car. (T:1043, 1483).
- 13) Decker described the gunman as a large man, but Appellant is diminutive in size. (T:645, 1025).
- 14) Decker told the police that he thought he knew the perpetrator. (T:652).

The Record does not reveal substantial <u>competent</u> evidence sufficient to justify the guilty verdict and sentence of death. Therefore this Court should reverse (and/or remand for entry of a judgment of acquittal).

E. THE APPELLANT'S MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES MANDATE THAT HIS DEATH SENTENCE BE VACATED.

While a trial judge is awarded great latitude in weighing a defendant's mitigating circumstances during sentencing, his

findings nevertheless must be supported by substantial competent evidence. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Campbell v. State</u>, 571 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1990).

The record illustrates that sufficient weight was not properly given to a) Appellant's brain dysfunction and b) evidence of Appellant's dysfunctional upbringing. The trial judge failed to properly weigh Appellant's statutory mitigators which dealt with mental capacity.

During sentencing phase, four medical experts testified that Appellant suffers from an organic brain dysfunction. (T: 3530, 3583, 3788, 3635). The Trial judge repeatedly requested that the experts provide some proof that Appellant's brain disorder directly caused him to commit the crimes. The law provides that aggravating circumstances must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt, but mitigating circumstances do not share such a high burden. <u>See</u> Fla.Std.Jury Instr. (Crim) at 81.

In <u>Larkins v. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S228 (5/11/95), this Court appeared to give some weight to testimony that Larkin's brain dysfunction constitutes a mitigating circumstance.⁷ The record also reveals the Appellant experienced an abusive upbringing at the

⁷ The court reversed the defendant's death sentence, however, on the grounds that the trial judge failed to make specific findings as to mitigating factors on the record.

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