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

Next to testify was appellant's father-in-law, Rick Schultz. (R 3708). He described his son-in-law as caring and compassionate. After his father had the stroke, appellant would maintain a job and care for his father. (3720). He is a good worker and a good provider. (R 3710-3711). Appellant had no difficulty making decisions. (R 3720). Appellant obtained his GED while he lived in Ohio and furthered his education by attending computer school. (R 3711-3712). Appellant was very hurt by the affair between his wife, Cassandra and his brother, Rodney. (R 3713).

Appellant's mother-in-law, Fran Schultz testified. (R 3745). Appellant is a good father, never hit his children and cared for his sick father. (R 3748). He is a hard worker and obtained his GED. (R 3745-3748).

Appellant's mother-in-law's sister, Betty Moore, also testified. Appellant was always proper around her. He was capable of making decisions and always seemed in control. (R 3737-3743).

Another aunt, Billie Melon testified. (R 3729). She stated that appellant is a good provider and loved his family and father. (R 3729-3732).

Thomas Cavanagh, who testified for the state at the guilt phase, testified on behalf of appellant. (R 3850). He stated that appellant should not be executed because serial killers like him should be studied. (R 3860-3861).

The jury rendered an advisory recommendation for death by a vote of eleven to one. (R 3927). The judge sentenced appellant to death on July 15, 1994. (R 5402). The court found the following aggravating factors to exist; 1). appellant was previously convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence; § 921.141 (5)(b) 2). The court also found the existence of the aggravating factor that the capital felony was committed while appellant was engaged in or was an accomplice, in the commission of, or an attempt to commit a burglary, kidnaping and robbery. (R 5378). 921.141 (5)(d); and 3). The capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. 921.141 (5)(h). (R 5379). The court rejected the state's argument that the capital murder was cold, calculated and cruel under 921.141 (5)(I). (R 5380).

The court did not find the existence of any statutory mitigating factors. (R 5381-5385). The court did consider and weigh eighteen separate nonstatutory mitigators. (R 5385-5389). After weighing both the aggravating and mitigating factors, appellant was sentenced to death. (R 5389-5390).

23

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court properly allowed the admission of appellant's conviction for manslaughter during the guilt phase of the trial.

Appellant's claim that the trial court erred in failing to sever the extortion count is not preserved for appeal as the request for severance was grossly untimely. In any event, a motion for severance would not have been granted.

The trial court properly allowed the state to introduce evidence that appellant possessed the knowledge to execute a Quit claim deed as well as divorce documents.

The trial court properly denied appellant's motion for judgement of acquittal.

The trial court properly considered all the evidence presented in mitigation. The judge's findings regarding the mitigation are supported by the record.

Florida's death penalty statute is constitutional on its face and as applied.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED APPELLANT'S PRIOR CONVICTION FOR MANSLAUGHTER

Appellant claims that the trial court erred in allowing the state to use his prior conviction for manslaughter at the guilt phase of his trial. Appellant asserts that admission of the conviction was erroneous because it's probative value is outweighed by it's prejudicial effect and it's admission violates the spirit of "William Rule".

The trial court has great latitude in determining relevance of evidence, and such a determination will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 917, <u>cert. granted</u>, 112 S.Ct. 3022, 120 L. Ed. 2d 894, <u>rehearing denied</u>, 113 S.Ct. 22, 120 L. Ed. 2d 948, on remand 615 So. 2d 679, <u>cert. denied</u>, 114 S.Ct. 328, 126 L. Ed. 2d 274 (1991). To be relevant, evidence must prove or tend to prove a fact in issue. <u>Stano v. State</u>, 473 So. 2d 1282, <u>cert. denied</u>, 474 U.S. 1093, 106 S.Ct. 869, 88 L. Ed.2d 12, denial of habeas corpus, affirmed in part, reversed in part, 901 F. 2d 898 (1985). With those principles in mind, appellant has failed to demonstrate the trial court abused its discretion.

A review of argument presented in support of admission of the collateral crime evidence along with the rationale behind the judge's ruling demonstrates that the manslaughter conviction was properly admitted because it was relevant to a material issue. (R 2093-2095). The reasoning behind admission of such evidence is best illustrated in <u>Castro v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 111, 115 (Fla. 1989). For such admission to be proper, this Court requires that the collateral evidence be relevant to a material issue. In <u>Castro</u>, state witness McKnight, testified that the defendant threatened to stab him four days

before the alleged crime. McKinght admitted to helping the defendant cover-up the murder but he did not participate in the crime itself. Id. The state argued evidence regarding the prior threat was admissible to show McKinght's state of mind. This Court rejected that argument because McKnight's state of mind had not been made an issue at trial. Therefore, admission of prior threat was erroneous because it was irrelevant. Id, at 115. Contrary to the lack of relevancy of the collateral crime evidence in <u>Castro</u>, the credibility of key state witness, Charles Panoyan, was a central point in the case <u>subjudice</u>. Appellant's involvement did not become apparent for three years because Panoyan, initially charged with first degree murder, would not reveal appellant's identity as the gunman. In order to logically and accurately present the state's case, the state was required to explain to the jury why Panoyan initially a suspect, concealed appellant's identity for so long. Panoyan refused to speak with police because of his fear of appellant. Several witnesses testified about the explicit threats appellant made against Panoyan and his family. (R 149-151, 1505-1506, 2062-2094). Relevant to the reasonableness/credibility of Panoyan's fear was his knowledge/belief that appellant was capable of carrying out that threat. The state requested that it be allowed to introduce appellant's prior manslaughter conviction for the sole purpose of illustrating the believability of that threat. (R 149-156). The court's ruling was not predicated upon the rationale of "William's Rule" evidence. (R 1505-1506, 2092-2095). The trial court based it's ruling on the fact that Panoyan's state of mind was a central issue in this case. The trial court observed that the defense made Panoyan's credibility an issue in cross-examination. Panoyan's refusal to identify the killer was very relevant and central to both the state and the defense. (R 2092-2094). (R 2093). The state was correctly permitted to allow Panoyan to explain that appellant had previously beaten to death a four-year child. Given the fact that appellant is capable of such violence and that Panoyan is aware of that capability. Panoyan's

reluctance to reveal appellant's identity was motivated by fear and not guilt. <u>Tumult v. State</u>, 489 So. 2d 150, 153 (4th DCA 1986)(collateral crime evidence that is so "inextricably intertwined" in a case is relevant and admissible in order to present an orderly intelligible case); <u>United States v. Larson</u>, 526 F. 2d 262, 265 (5th Cir. 1976)(in prosecution for conspiracy to commit perjury, bad acts of co-defendant known by a witness who suborned perjury is relevant and admissible).

The central theme of appellant's defense was that Panoyan was involved in the crime and therefore should not be believed. Commencing with opening argument, the defense attorney emphasized the fact that Panoyan was initially a suspect. He concealed the identity of the alleged killer for three years. (R 646-650, 659, 669-671). This theme was developed throughout cross-examination of most of the state's witnesses. The defense repeatedly pointed out to the jury that Panoyan was the only victim that was not hurt, he knew the gunman, the police considered him a suspect from the beginning, he waited a long time to call for help after he was released by the gunman, and he concealed the identity of the killer for three years. (R 1166-1167, 1172, 1226, 1262, 1449, 1688, 1817, 1938, 2299-2301, 2477, 2708-2710, 2758, 2866). After the state rested, appellant moved for a judgement of acquittal based on the lack of credibility of Panovan. (R 2899-2901, 2932). Finally during closing argument, defense counsel pointed out alleged inconsistencies in Panovan's testimony, and reemphasized many of the points raised during cross-examination. (R 3007, 3011, 3012, 3016, 3019, 3020-3029). Given the state's theory of the case along with appellant's attempt to attack the credibility of Panoyan, appellant's manslaughter conviction was relevant and admissible. Castro; Tumult; Bryan v., State, 533 So. 2d 744, 747 (Fla. 1988) (evidence of collateral crime which demonstrates ownership and possession of murder weapon used in the instant case is admissible).

To the extent that this Court finds that the manslaughter conviction was inadmissible, any error must be considered harmless. <u>State v. DiGuillio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 1989). The evidence against appellant was overwhelming. Panoyan, an eyewitness to the crime, identified appellant as the gunman. It is clear from the testimony of Robert Decker and Clyde Decker that Panoyan could not possibly have been the killer. Appellant's cowboy hat and utility belt were left at the crime scene. The utility belt contained the keys to the handcuffs used on the victims. Appellant discussed details of the murder with three other people. He told two of those people that he had committed the murder. <u>Castro</u>.

<u>ISSUE II</u>

APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE SEVERED THE COUNT OF EXTORTION IS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL

On appeal appellant complains that the trial court should have severed a count of extortion. In count seventeen of the indictment, appellant was charged with threatening to injure or kill Charles Panoyan and his family if he testified against appellant. (R 4459). On April 27, 1993 prior to trial, appellant was on notice that the state intended to introduce appellant's prior manslaughter conviction. (R. 4573-4574)(R 149-154, 546-549).. On January 24, 1994 appellant filed two motions to preclude the state from introducing his prior conviction. The court heard argument regarding appellant's motion at that time. (R 149-154). Appellant never filed a motion to sever the extortion count, consequently this issue is not preserved for appeal.. (R 4719-4720, 4685). <u>Barbon-Zureta v. State</u>, 415 So.2d 824 (3rd DCA 1982)(untimely motion to sever will be heard only if the facts upon which it is based was not known before trial); <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 609 So. 2d 493, 499 (Fla. 1992)(failure to seek severance before the trial court waives issue for appeal).

In any event even if the issue was properly raised before the trial court, appellant cannot demonstrate that a severance should have been granted. The granting of a motion to sever is largely a matter within the trial court's discretion. Absent an abuse of that discretion, a trial court's ruling will not be overturned. Fotopoulos v. State, 608 So. 2d 784 (Fla. 1992).

In an attempt to precluded the jury from knowing of appellant's manslaughter conviction, he claims that the trial court should have severed the extortion count from the remainder of the charges. However, given the fact that the offenses are connected in an episodic sense, severance was not warranted. <u>Fotopoulos</u>. In <u>Fotopoulos</u>, the defendant and his co-defendant, Diedre Hunt, were charged with the murders of Kevin Ramsey and John Chase as well as the attempted murder of the defendant's wife Lisa Fotopoulos. Hunt was convicted of all charges in a separate trial. <u>Id</u> at 787. Fotopoulos sought to sever one of the murder charges, the murder of Kevin Ramsey, from the remainder of the charges. In a factual situation similar to the instant case, the state argued that Hunt's participation with the defendant in the murder of Kevin Ramsey was relevant to demonstrate how the defendant blackmailed Hunt into participating in the murder attempt of his wife. <u>Id</u>, at 789. This Court found severance to be improper. <u>Id</u>, at 790. In the instant case, the extortion count was necessary to explain Panoyan's connection to appellant as well as his role in the subsequent coverup. It was because of Panoyan's continued silence that this case remained unsolved for such a long period of time. Panoyan's relationship with appellant was a central issue in this case.

In any event, even if the extortion count should have been severed, appellant's prior manslaughter conviction was properly before the jury based on its relevance t Panoyan's state of mind. See issue I. Consequently, severance of the extortion count would not have made a difference. Id at 790; Robinson v. State, 610 So. 2d 1288, 1289 (Fla. 1992)(explain). This claim is without merit.

<u>ISSUE III</u>

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED EVIDENCE RELATING TO APPELLANT'S EXECUTION OF DIVORCE PAPERS AND A QUIT CLAIM DEED.

Appellant claims that the trial court erred in allowing into the evidence, certain documents prepared by appellant. The documents are a quit claim deed¹ and appellant's own divorce papers which were prepared without his wife's knowledge. (R 1459). Appellant claims that the documents are both irrelevant and prejudicial. The state requested that the documents be admitted solely for the purpose of establishing appellant's knowledge with regard to preparation of legal documents. (R 154 159). The trial court reasoned that appellant and the killer shared the common characteristic of knowledge of legal documents therefore the evidence was relevant. (R 157). The trial court further ruled that the documents were in no way prejudicial as half the population gets divorced. (R 159). <u>Miller v. State</u>, 605 So. 2d 492, 494 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1992)(testimony regarding defendant's dealing and ownership of guns does not imply bad acts since such acts are not illegal). Given the relevance and lack of prejudice the court admitted the evidence. (R 157-159). The trial court's ruling was proper. See generally Sections 90.401 and 90.402 <u>Fla. Stats</u>. Given that relevancy determinations are within the court's discretion, appellant cannot establish an abuse of that discretion. <u>Howard v. State</u>, 616 So. 2d 484 Fla. 1st DCA 1993).

Mrs. Decker's killer forced her and her husband Robert to sign a legal document. (R 156-157) This evidence was presented through the testimony of Robert Decker and one of the informant's

¹ Charles Williamson signed a quit claim deed, giving ownership of his house to his son, the appellant. (R 1472).



Stephen Luchak. (R 1927). The killer was so concerned with authenticity of the document that he made Robert Decker sign two such forms. He did this because he was not satisfied with Robert Decker's first signature. The documents themselves were never recovered.

Even if the trial court erred in allowing evidence regarding those documents, any error must be considered harmless. Testimony regarding both documents was very brief. (R 1459, 1472, 2629). Furthermore as noted above, the evidence did not imply any bad acts. <u>Miller</u>. Appellant's claim is without merit.

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGEMENT OF ACQUITTAL

Appellant claims that the trial court erred in denying his motion for judgement of acquittal. Appellant argued that the court should grant his motion for judgement of acquittal based solely on the fact that Charles Panoyan was not a credible witness. (R 2900-2902). The trial court properly denied the motion. (R 2902).

On appeal appellant argues that the state provided only circumstantial evidence of his guilt. He further attacks the sufficiency if the state's evidence by pointing out the lack of evidence presented. For example, appellant relies on the fact that there was no murder weapon found, nor was there any fingerprint, blood or DNA evidence presented. Appellant's argument is both leally and factually faulty.

When reviewing the correctness of a trial court's denial of motion for judgement of acquittal,

this Court has repeatedly established the following standard of review:

As a general proposition, an appellate court should not retry a case or reweigh conflicting evidence submitted to a jury or other trier of fact. Rather, the concern on appeal must be whether, after all conflicts in the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom have been resolved in favor of the verdict on appeal, there is substantial, competent evidence to support the verdict and judgement.

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